God's Bible School & College

Graduate Catalog



2016-2017

Table of Contents

I. General Information

Welcome Message from the President

College Calendar

History of the School

Accreditation

Philosophy of Graduate Education

Mission Statement

Doctrine

Statement of Faith

Addendum to Statement of Faith

Ethos Statement/Statement of Conduct

Locations/Campus Maps

Libraries

II. Admissions

Contact Information

General Admission Requirements

Application Procedure

Non-Discrimination Policy

Admission Categories

Transfer Credit Policies

Program Change Policies

Preparing for Graduate Studies

III. Academic Information

Course Delivery Methods

Credit Hour Policy

The Academic Year

Academic Advising

Integrity

Auditing Courses

Class Attendance

Critical Thinking and Research Philosophy

Writing Styles

Course Registration

Course Change, Drop and Withdrawal

Grading System

Course Repeat Policy

Examinations

Transcripts

Course Enrollments

Academic/Course Grievances and Complaints

Language Requirements

Veteran Affairs/Educational Benefits

Incomplete Work

Academic Probation, Suspension and Remediation

Graduation - General Requirements

Program-Specific Graduation Requirements

Suggested Undergraduate Bible and Theology Course List

IV. Financial Information

Fees and Expenses/Tuition

Student Payment Policies

Refund Policies

Financial Aid Information

Transcript Requests

V. Student Services

Student Rights and Responsibilities

School Mail

Email from God's Bible School and College

Brainhoney

Piazza

Block Sessions

Textbook Purchases

Graduate Culture

VI. Programs of Study

General Non-Academic Requirements

Master of Arts in Ministry

Master of Arts in Biblical Studies

VII. Course Descriptions

Biblical Languages

Biblical Theology Courses

Historical Theology Courses

Practical Ministry Courses

Systematic Theology Courses

VIII. Personnel

Board of Trustees

Program Leadership and Staff

Full-time Faculty

Adjunct Faculty

Content Specialists and Visiting Instructors

General Information

Welcome Message from the President

I am so pleased that you have chosen to explore our graduate program degrees in Biblical Studies and Ministry. For more than a century, God's Bible School and College has coupled a passionate commitment to evangelism and discipleship with the highest level of academic excellence. This has enabled us to fulfill our mission of preparing men and women for ministry. Our alumni have served as pastors, teachers and missionaries in all fifty states and in almost every country of the world. We have excelled in placing Christian leaders in every level of Kingdom advancement.

As God calls men and women to ministry, we believe that call is a call to biblical and ministerial preparation. We take that training seriously and believe it shows in the quality of our programs.

Let me encourage you to make your next visit beyond our website. I invite you to visit our Cincinnati campus and speak with the head of our graduate program. While here, you can visit with the committed faculty that will serve you as instructors. If you can't visit campus, we will be happy to speak with you by other means and share what makes us so excited about the program.

Our purpose is clear: this program exists to glorify God and serve His church by providing graduate-level education to deepen the Biblical training and enhance the ministry effectiveness of Christlike servant-leaders.

College Calendar

A comprehensive calendar of academic dates and campus events is maintained online here.

History of the School

An extensive history of God's Bible School and College may be found on the school's website.

Accreditation

God's Bible School and College is accredited by the Higher Learning Commission.

The Higher Learning Commission 230 South LaSalle Street, Suite 7-500 Chicago, IL 60604 800-621-7440

http://ncahlc.org/

God's Bible School and College is also accredited by the Commission on Accreditation of the Association for Biblical Higher Education.

The Commission on Accreditation of the Association for Biblical Higher Education 5850 T.G. Lee Boulevard, Suite 130 Orlando, FL 32822 407-207-0808 http://www.abhe.org

God's Bible School and College is authorized by the Ohio Board of Regents to grant Associate of Applied Science, Associate of Arts, Bachelor of Arts and Master of Arts degrees.

Ohio Board of Regents 3600 State Office Tower 30 East Broad Street Columbus, OH 43266

Philosophy of Graduate Education

GBSC's philosophy of graduate education is rooted in the conviction that Scripture is the inspired and infallible word of God. As such, it provides the coordinating center for all degree programs and the touchstone for evaluating all truth claims. Further, we believe that truth must be loved and lived to be truly learned. Consequently, we seek to structure our graduate degrees to facilitate the integration of learning and life. We also believe that God is more glorified and His church is better served by Christlike servant-leaders whose knowledge of God and His Word has been deepened by advanced study and whose ministries have been enhanced by advanced skills development. Therefore, we seek to provide a context in which advanced study and skills development are cultivated together with Christlike humility and others-oriented service.

Mission Statement

Within the Division of Ministerial Education, the graduate program exists to glorify God and serve His church by providing graduate-level education shaped by Wesleyan conviction which deepens the Biblical training and enhances the ministry effectiveness of Christlike servant-leaders.

Our distinctives:

- Submitted to the authority of God's inerrant, infallible Word.
- Founded in Wesleyan-Arminian theology.
- Determined to proclaim the redemptive power of the gospel and the transformative truth of Scripture.
- Passionate about articulating the message of Spirit-filled, holy living.

 Committed to a contextually-sound, Spirit-illumined exegesis; Spirit-anointed exposition; and Spirit-empowered application. Study of the Bible and its theology should result in practical transformation and humility, not pride and prejudice.

Doctrine

The historic position of God's Bible School and College is summarized in our Statement of Faith. This statement represents the common core of holiness teachings, following the pattern of John Wesley and early Methodism. Certain items of this common core of doctrine have been given special emphasis during the history of the school from the days of its founder to the present. These special items deserve restatement here as a part of the institution's spiritual heritage:

- The missionary responsibility of the Christian;
- The importance and power of prayer;
- The blessed hope of the return of the Lord Jesus;
- The promise and possibility of physical healing in answer to the prayer of faith; and
- The life of separation which befits a Christian testimony.

Statement of Faith

God's Bible School and College holds firmly to the following tenets of the faith:

GOD

We believe that there is one God, self-existent and eternal, the creator, sustainer, and ruler of all things, infinitely perfect and eternally existing in three persons, Father, Son, and Holy Spirit. Their glory is equal, their majesty co-eternal.

HOLY SCRIPTURE

We believe that the Holy Scriptures of the Old and New Testaments are the Word of God written, inspired by the Holy Spirit and inerrant in the original manuscripts. They contain all that is necessary to our salvation and are of supreme authority for faith and practice.

JESUS CHRIST

We believe that Our Lord Jesus Christ, the eternal and only begotten Son of God, became man without ever ceasing to be God; that He was conceived by the Holy Spirit, born of the Virgin Mary, and lived a sinless life. He died on the cross, making a full and satisfactory atonement for the sins of the whole human race, then rose bodily the third day from the grave and ascended into Heaven, where He is enthroned at God's right hand as our intercessor.

HOLY SPIRIT

We believe that the Holy Spirit, the Third Person of the Godhead, is Lord and Giver of life, who continually glorifies Our Lord Jesus Christ, convicts men and women of sin, and regenerates all who repent and trust in Christ for salvation. It is by the Holy Spirit that believers are sanctified, indwelt, and guided into all truth; and it is also by Him that Christ lives in the church, the gospel is proclaimed, and the Kingdom of God is advanced in the world.

HUMAN NATURE

We believe that man was created in the image of God; but as the result of Adam's sin, the entire human race was alienated from God and plunged into sin. By nature we are thus corrupt and fallen, hostile to God and His Law, and utterly unable of ourselves to remedy our lost condition. By His prevenient grace, God restores moral sensibility to all mankind, enabling each of us to respond to His offer of salvation.

SALVATION

We believe that Salvation is the provision of God's grace alone, but it is a gift which we must freely accept. Thus God graciously justifies and regenerates all who repent of their sins and believe on Jesus Christ as Lord and Savior. As the children of God, they are restored to fellowship with Him, delivered from the penalty of sin, as well as from its willful practice, and are initially sanctified by the Holy Spirit who dwells in them.

ENTIRE SANCTIFICATION

We believe that God calls all believers to entire sanctification in a moment of full consecration and faith subsequent to their new birth in Jesus Christ. By the Holy Spirit's filling, their hearts are purified from inherited depravity, and they are empowered for continued growth in their relationship with Christ, victorious living, and fruitful service. Entire sanctification is both preceded and followed by growth in grace, dynamically expressed in advancing holiness and increasing spiritual maturity.

ASSURANCE

We believe that believers are assured of personal salvation by the infallible promises of God's Word, confirmed by the inward testimony of the Holy Spirit, and attested by a good conscience and the presence of the fruit of the Spirit in their lives.

SECURITY OF BELIEVERS

We believe that all believers are fully secure in Christ, conditioned only by their continuous obedient faith. Those who backslide may be immediately restored to God's favor by returning to Him in repentance and faith in Christ.

THE CHRISTIAN LIFE

We believe that it is the joy and duty of all Christians through the power of the Holy Spirit to live righteously, victoriously, and sacrificially, obedient to God's law, faithful in the use of the means of grace, continually sharing the hope that is in them, and ministering compassionately to human need.

THE CHURCH

We believe that the true church of Jesus Christ is composed of all who are united to Him in saving faith and who are thus members of the body of which He is the head. All Christians should live in fellowship with the church, uniting in its worship of the Triune God, supporting its great task of world evangelism, and loving one another with pure and fervent hearts.

CHRIST'S RETURN

We believe that Our Lord Jesus Christ will personally return in glory at the end of the age, as He has promised, and that He will consummate His kingdom and judge the world in righteousness. His coming, as we confess, is the "blessed hope" which is set before us and for which we must live in constant joyful readiness.

HEAVEN AND HELL

We believe that those who die in Christ are immediately present with Him, while those who die in sin suffer the torments of hell awaiting the final judgment. All shall be raised from the dead, those who have died in Christ to eternal blessedness, and those who have rejected Him to conscious and everlasting punishment in the Lake of Fire.

CREATION

We believe that for His own glory and by His own decree the Triune God created heaven and earth and all things visible and invisible, animate and inanimate. Thus we reject all unscriptural theories of origin.

SEPARATION

We believe that all the saved should live in such a manner as not to bring reproach upon their Savior and Lord. God commands His people to separate from all religious apostasy, all worldly and sinful pleasures, practices, and associations, and to refrain from all immodest and immoderate appearances, the wearing of jewelry, piercings, and bodily markings.

HUMAN SEXUALITY

We believe that God has given to us the gift of sexuality which must be exercised only within the boundaries of covenanted, lifelong, and heterosexual marriage. Intimate sexual relationships outside of marriage and sexual relationships between persons of the same sex are immoral and sinful. Specifically we condemn homosexuality, lesbianism, bisexuality,

bestiality, incest, fornication, adultery, pornography, and other forms of licentiousness as sinful perversions of the divine gift of sexuality.

CIVIL LAWSUITS

We believe that Christians are prohibited from bringing civil lawsuits against other Christians or Christian organizations to resolve personal disputes. We believe the Christian community possesses all the resources necessary to resolve personal disputes between parties. We do believe, however, that a Christian may seek compensation for injuries from another Christian's insurance company as long as the claim is pursued without malice or slander.

AUTHORITY

We believe that God has ordained and created all authority consisting of three basic institutions: 1) the home, 2) the church, and 3) the state. Every person is subject to these authorities, but all (including the authorities themselves) are answerable to God and governed by His Word. God has given each institution specific Biblical responsibilities and balanced those responsibilities with the understanding that no institution has the right to infringe upon the other. The home, the church, and the state are equal and sovereign in their respective Biblically assigned spheres of responsibility under God.

THE LORD'S DAY

We believe that the Lord's Day, celebrated on Sunday, the first day of the week, throughout the Christian church, is the Christian Sabbath, which we reverently observe as a day of rest and worship and as the continuing memorial of Our Savior's resurrection. For this reason, we abstain from secular work and from all merchandising on this holy day, except that required by mercy or necessity.

FAMILY RELATIONSHIP

We believe that God has instituted the family as the foundational unit of human society and it begins with the legitimate marriage of one man and one woman. Within its structure, as He has ordained, parents are responsible to instruct their children in Christian faith and conduct, to set before them godly and consistent examples of the same, and in every way to "bring them up in the nurture and admonition of the Lord." In the ordering of family life, Scripture requires: "Wives submit yourselves unto your own husbands, as unto the Lord . . . husbands, love your wives, even as Christ also loved the church, and gave himself for it . . . children, obey your parents in the Lord: for this is right."

HUMAN LIFE

The sanctity and dignity of human life demands respect for all human life, especially in its most vulnerable stages and conditions. We believe that human life begins at conception and that the unborn child is a living human being. Abortion constitutes the unjustified, unexcused taking of unborn human life. Abortion is murder. We reject any teaching that abortions of pregnancies due to rape, incest, birth defects, gender selection, birth or population control, or

the physical or mental well-being of the mother are acceptable. We further believe that the killing of the weak, the physically challenged, the mentally ill, or the aged, whether by a deliberate act or by coercing or assisting a person to commit suicide is immoral.

SUBSTANCE ABUSE

We believe that the production, sale, purchase, and use of alcoholic beverages, tobacco, narcotics, and other harmful drugs, unless for mechanical, chemical, or medicinal purposes, is contrary to God's requirement that we regard our bodies as temples of the Holy Spirit.

Addendum to Statement of Faith

The Statement of Faith does not exhaust the extent of our faith. The Bible itself is the sole and final source of all that we believe. We do believe, however, that the foregoing Statement of Faith accurately represents the teaching of the Bible and, therefore, is binding upon all Board Trustees, officers, employees, and activities of the Corporation. Scripture for the Statement of Faith can be reviewed on the institution's website at www.gbs.edu.

Ethos Statement/Statement of Conduct

God's Bible School and College is a non-denominational school in the Wesleyan-Methodist tradition that welcomes students from a wide variety of denominational backgrounds. Students are expected to interact charitably with others of differing theological backgrounds. Such interaction respects others by avoiding *ad hominem* arguments, disparaging comments, and stereotyping. Students are expected to first seek to understand any position before they critique it and to apply the Second Great Commandment to their word choice, tone, and attitude. Because online interaction often lacks the body-language cues that make up such a great percentage of normal personal interaction, it is crucial that students practice 1 Corinthians 13's admonition that love assumes the best about others and their intentions, giving others the same freedom to grow that we want for ourselves.

Locations/Campus Maps

For directions to campus, see our website at http://www.gbs.edu/directions.

Libraries

God's Bible School and College possesses a wide range of on-campus and online <u>library</u> <u>resources</u>, including the R.G. Flexon Memorial Library, Schmul Library and Ministerial Resource Center, and the Gale Missions Library.

Schmul Library and Ministerial Resource Center

The Schmul Library and Ministerial Resource Center was opened in 1996 and is dedicated to the lives and memory of Dr. and Mrs. H.E. Schmul Sr. The center contains a fully furnished chapel, a staffed reference area and a reading room. The library contains over 3,000 volumes devoted to theology and is especially strong in Wesleyan and Methodist scholarship. Though the collection is strictly non-circulation, students may request scans of out-of-print materials housed there through contacting a campus library staff member at 513-763-6657 or visiting the <u>libraries section</u> of the GBSC website.

Visiting scholars are asked to contact the Office of Graduate Studies prior to their arrival on campus in order to arrange for permission to access the collection.

More information on how to utilize these library resources is available here.

Admissions

Contact Information

Office of Graduate Studies 1810 Young St. Cincinnati, OH 45202

Graduate Admissions Counselor Email address: gradinfo@gbs.edu Phone number: 513-763-6575

Application Form

You can complete your Application for Admission here.

General Admission Requirements

Post-Baccalaureate Students

In order to be considered for acceptance into GBSC's graduate program, applicants must meet the following requirements:

1. Hold a bachelor's degree from an accredited college or university.

- Students with bachelor's degrees from non-accredited institutions must provide with their
 application a link to their institution's catalog and the syllabi for the Bible and Theology
 courses they completed there.
- Mature persons without a bachelor's degree but capable of master's level work may contact the Graduate Admissions Counselor (gradinfo@gbs.edu) to explore options for study at GBSC.
- 2. Have completed a minimum of thirty undergraduate semester hours in Bible and Theology.
 - Students with fewer than thirty semester hours of coursework in Bible and Theology should contact the Graduate Admissions Counselor to discuss the options available for fulfilling this requirement. A suggested list of courses to meet this admission requirement may be found here.
- 3. Demonstrate strong Christian character evidenced by active engagement in ministry, moral integrity, and a level of spiritual maturity suitable for Christian leadership.
- 4. Have a minimum cumulative GPA of 2.50 for the MA in Ministry degree and 3.00 for the MA in Biblical Studies degree.
 - Students with a cumulative GPA of less than required minimums, but who meet all other admissions requirements, may be considered for admission on Conditional Acceptance.
- 5. Technology proficiency: Given the online nature of the GBSC Graduate Program, students must have the following technology proficiencies: 1) have easy and reliable broadband internet access; 2) be proficient in the use of the internet and online email accounts; 3) be comfortable with downloading and uploading documents; 4) be able to use programs such as Microsoft Office applications to create documents and presentations; 5) be willing to learn how to use online learning platforms, synchronous video software, and discussion forums.
- 6. Complete all application procedures (see Application Procedures).

International Students

In addition to meeting the <u>General Admission Requirements</u> and following the regular <u>application procedure</u>, international students seeking admission to GBSC's graduate program must provide the following information:

- 1. A TOEFL score that indicates the student's ability to work at a graduate level with the English language, if English is not the student's first language. A total score of 80 or above on the internet-based TOEFL (IBT) is acceptable. The student should have an official copy of the test score sent directly to the Registrar.
- 2. A theological or exegetical research paper written in English by the applicant which demonstrates ability to do graduate-level work in English.
- 3. An endorsement from the student's sending church or Christian organization indicating plans for ministry after graduation from GBSC.

We regret that GBSC is unable to assist international students in relocating to the United States.

3 + 2 BA/MA Students

In order to be considered for acceptance into GBSC's 3 + 2 BA/MA program, applicants must meet to the following requirements:

- 1. Be a current GBSC undergraduate student and have completed a minimum of two consecutive semesters of study at GBSC as an on-campus student.
- 2. Have completed at least 60 semester hours.
- 3. Demonstrate strong Christian character evidenced by active engagement in ministry, moral integrity, and a level of spiritual maturity suitable for Christian leadership.
- 4. Have a minimum cumulative GPA of 2.50 for the MA in Ministry degree and 3.00 for the MA in Biblical Studies degree.
- 5. Complete all application procedures (see <u>Application Procedure</u>).

Non-Matriculated Students

Persons who desire to take courses for professional development, Continuing Education Credit (CEUs), or similar reasons may apply to be accepted under Limited Enrollment status. No more than 12 credits taken by nonmatriculated students may be transferred into a degree program.

Application Procedure

If applying for scholarships, one's application for enrollment in the fall semester is due April 30. The final application deadline for fall enrollment is June 1. Applications for enrollment in the spring semester are due October 1. Applications must be completed online using the <u>Graduate Application for Admission Form</u>.

The required components for application include:

- 1. **A completed application form**. A non-refundable application fee of \$40.00 must accompany the application.
- 2. **Final official transcripts**. Transcripts are required for all previous academic work undertaken at any college or university. Applicants must request that official copies be mailed to the Office of Graduate Studies and are responsible for any costs incurred in obtaining transcripts. GBSC alumni or students applying for the 3 + 2 program must have a copy of their current transcript sent to the Office of Graduate Studies in conjunction with their application. For information on how to obtain a GBSC transcript, see www.gbs.edu/transcript.
- 3. **Three written recommendations**. Recommendations should come from at least one of each of the following: a pastor or spiritual leader, a major professor or academic advisor, and a

current supervisor/employer. Reference forms are embedded in the online application and are available from the Office of Graduate Studies. Applicants must provide in their application form the email addresses for each of their references, and if a referent does not have an email address, a printable PDF is available on the application form for the applicant to print of and give to him/her.

- 4. A recent picture of the applicant.
- 5. **Several essays** must accompany the application and address the topics identified on the application form.

Non-Discrimination Policy

God's Bible School and College does not discriminate on the basis of age, sex, race, color, national or ethnic origin in its admission of students or employment of its faculty and staff.

Admission Categories

Matriculated

Matriculated students are those who have been admitted and are enrolled in a degree program. All degree program requirements are incumbent upon matriculated students who may be granted one of the statuses listed below. Matriculated students who desire to change their status must consult with their advisor and supply the requisite paperwork to the Office of Graduate Studies.

- 1. **Full-time Status**. Full-time students take full load (9 hours/semester) with a maximum load of 12 hours per semester.
- 2. **3 + 2 Program**. Students in the 3 + 2 program take a combination of graduate and undergraduate courses to earn both a BA and an MA simultaneously. Students accepted into the 3 + 2 Program in their junior year, take 3 hours of graduate work per semester along with undergraduate courses, adding 3 more graduate hours per semester each succeeding year. In their fifth and final year, students take a full load (9 hours/semester) of graduate courses per semester along with 3 hours of undergraduate work.
- 3. **Reduced Load Status**. Students enrolled in a degree program may apply for reduced-load status if they are unable to take a full load. Reduced load students may take a maximum of 6 hours per semester. A minimum of 3 hours per semester is required to remain enrolled in a degree program.
- 4. **Conditional Acceptance Status**. Students with a cumulative GPA between 2.00-2.49 wishing to enter the MA in Ministry degree program, or with a GPA between 2.50-2.99 wishing to enter the MA in Biblical Studies degree program, while meeting all other

admissions requirements, may be considered for admission on Conditional Acceptance. Students who are accepted on Conditional Acceptance will be restricted to 6 hours of coursework per semester and a cumulative total of 9 hours (25% of a degree) while in this status. Applicants granted Conditional Acceptance may remain in this status for no more than two semesters and must achieve a 2.67 GPA in the MA in Ministry degree, or a 3.17 GPA in the MA in Biblical Studies degree to be granted Full-time or Reduced-load status. If the student does not succeed in doing so, he/she will be placed on Academic Suspension and will not be permitted to register for credit for at least one semester.

- 5. **Academic Probation.** A student is placed on academic probation when his/her GPA falls below the threshold GPA required for acceptance into his/her respective program (2.5 for MA in Ministry, 3.0 for MA in Biblical Studies), and will be notified of the change of status in writing. During semesters when a student is on academic probation, the student may not carry an academic load in excess of 6 hours. If, after the second semester on academic probation the student has not achieved the threshold GPA, he/she will be placed on Academic Suspension and will not be permitted to register for courses for at least one semester.
- 6. **Academic Remediation**. Students that have been readmitted after their first academic suspension are put under academic remediation and may not take more than 3 credit hours per semester. In order to be released from academic remediation the student must attain a term GPA that meets the threshold GPA for entrance into his/her respective degree in the first term after he/she has been readmitted. If the student does attain a term GPA that meets the program's threshold GPA, the student returns to academic probation and has no more than two semester to achieve the program's threshold cumulative GPA. Failure to achieve the program's threshold cumulative GPA after being on academic probation a second time will result in the student no longer being permitted to enroll in courses.

Non-matriculated

Students who have been admitted to GBSC but are not enrolled in a degree program are non-matriculated.

- 1. **Limited Enrollment**. A student who does not plan to complete a degree at GBSC or elsewhere but desires to take graduate courses for credit may be admitted under Limited Enrollment status. Such students must take a minimum of 3 hours per year to retain their enrollment status. The maximum number of hours permitted in this status is 3 hours per semester.
- 2. **Transfer Status**. Students who desire to take courses from GBSC in order to transfer them into another institution's program will be admitted as transfer students. Students

who are accepted for Transfer status may take up to 9 hours of coursework per semester, provided that the cumulative total of all graduate coursework in which the student is enrolled does not exceed 12 hours per semester.

Application Approval Process

An application to the Graduate Program will be considered by the Graduate Admissions Committee once all the required paperwork has been received by the Graduate Office. The Admissions Committee will review the application, do any necessary verification, and vote on its approval. Applications receiving a majority vote of approval from the Graudate Admissions Committee will be accepted. The acceptance or non-acceptance of the application will be communicated to the applicant with a hard-copy letter from the Graduate Office. Accepted applicants will also receive the information necessary for them to continue the registration process. All decisions by the Graduate Admissions Committee are final. Applicants who are not accepted may re-apply the semester following the rejection of their application.

Transfer Credit Policies

Students who desire to transfer coursework from other graduate institutions must meet all of the general requirements for admission. To petition for acceptance of transfer credits, students must provide a written petition to the Office of Graduate Studies requesting a transfer of credits and a copy of the course description for each course they desire to transfer. Students may be asked to provide course syllabi so that course equivalency may be ascertained.

Full credit is given for work satisfactorily completed at accredited institutions, provided these courses apply to the student's degree program. No credit will be granted for previous courses with a grade of less than "B" or its equivalent.

Particular attention is paid to the level of instruction and the quality of the petitioned courses. The level of instruction of previous coursework may be ascertained through expectations listed on the course syllabi, level and amount of required reading, and general comparison with comparable syllabi of current faculty. The transfer credit will be officially awarded if the student has earned a GPA equal to or greater than the threshold GPA required for entry into his/her respective program after completing a full semester in the GBSC Graduate Program.

Up to 18 hours may be transferred into the MA in Ministry and up to 15 hours into the MA in Biblical Studies. No more than half the hours used to complete another degree may be applied toward a degree at GBSC.

Program Change Policies

Students who desire to change degree programs must meet their advisor and gain recommendation for the program change. Upon gaining the advisor's recommendation, the student may complete the requisite paperwork and submit it to the Office of Graduate Studies for processing. If the student's advisor does not recommend the program change, he/she may appeal to the Graduate Program Director. All decisions by the Graduate Program Director are final.

Preparing for Graduate Studies

Undergraduate Preparation

All students for post-baccalaureate graduate degree programs in the Ministerial Education Division must have completed a minimum of 30 hours of Bible and Theology coursework. For a minimal list of suggested courses, see here.

Students who anticipate pursuing the MA in Biblical Studies degree should complete two years of Koine Greek studies and one year of Biblical Hebrew studies that approximate the undergraduate courses provided at GBSC. Syllabi for these courses are available <u>online</u>.

Deficiency Remediation

Students who do not have the prerequisite hours in Bible and Theology must remediate their deficiencies before beginning their graduate coursework. For students who plan to pursue the MA in Biblical Studies and are lacking the pre-requisite language studies, it is strongly encouraged that the languages be completed before beginning their graduate coursework. Lacking that linguistic foundation will significantly impact the depth of one's learning. At a minimum, such students must complete Greek I before beginning their graduate coursework. Greek II and Hebrew I may be completed while enrolled as a graduate student, but must be completed prior to taking the required exegesis courses.

Introduction to Graduate Studies

All students who have been admitted to a graduate degree program at GBSC will be required to complete the Introduction to Graduate Studies tutorial course prior to beginning any graduate coursework. This tutorial addresses the following topics: how to access library resources, writing style manuals, bibliographic resources; how to manage research information; and how to use the learning management system, asynchronous discussion board, and synchronous video software.

Academic Information

Course Delivery Methods

Fully online with Synchronous Video

All courses will be delivered through the GBSC learning management system, Brainhoney. Assignment submission and course grading will occur in Brainhoney. The majority of courses will include weekly synchronous (real-time) video group discussions and/or lectures and may include archived video lectures as well.

Online + Block session

In some cases, courses will be offered as block sessions rather than online. Courses offered in this fashion will be noted on the course schedule, and attendance at the block session will be necessary to successfully complete the course.

Credit Hour Policy

The semester hour is the unit of credit. Credit hours are assigned to courses in accordance with federal requirements and with standard practice in higher education. According to <u>GSBC policy</u>, a credit hour is an amount of work represented in intended learning outcomes and verified by evidence of student achievement that is an institutionally-established equivalency that reasonably approximates not less than:

- (1) one hour of classroom or direct faculty instruction and a minimum of two hours of out-of-class student work each week for approximately fifteen weeks for one semester of credit, or the equivalent amount of work over a different amount of time; or
- (2) at least an equivalent amount of work as required in paragraph (1) of this definition for other activities as established by an institution, including laboratory work, internships, practicums, studio work, and other academic work leading toward to the award of credit hours.

The Academic Year

The regular academic year is divided into 2 semesters of 15 weeks each.

Academic Advising

Academic advisors are assigned to graduate students in order to assist them in planning their academic course of study. Advisors help graduate students to select courses that will fit in their degree program and also help them better equip themselves for ministry. Graduate students need to consult with their advisors in order for their registration selections to be approved.

Integrity

God's Bible School and College is committed to the pursuit of integrity in all aspects of life, reaching beyond the spiritual and the moral to also include the intellectual aspect of life. The honest pursuit of truth and knowledge is the goal of the academic community. Students and faculty are equally responsible in maintaining a high level of integrity as a part of their commitment to that pursuit of truth. Any action without academic integrity and intellectual honesty violates the trust of the academic and Christian community, and displays character unsuited for ministry. For a more extended discussion of academic integrity, see our <u>Academic Integrity Policy</u>.

Academic Dishonesty

It is the responsibility of faculty not only to maintain the integrity of their own academic pursuits, but also to establish guidelines to clarify the guidelines for students' academic work. The following activities constitute academic dishonesty: violation of copyright laws, plagiarism, reusing previously and/or concurrently submitted material in another class without faculty permission, cheating by copying from another's work, allowing another to copy from one's own work, reading an examination prior to the date it is given without the instructor's permission, and similar types of conduct. Academic dishonesty will not be tolerated in any form.

Academic Appeals

A student may appeal a grade to the instructor up to 60 days from the last day of the finals for that particular semester. If the student remains dissatisfied with the decision, he/she may appeal the instructor's decision in accordance with the <u>Academic Affairs Appeals Procedure</u>.

Auditing Courses

It is possible to register for and take classes without earning credit. In order to audit a class, the student must meet the prerequisites for the course and obtain permission from the instructor and the Graduate Program Director. Permission is granted per discretion of the instructor and class size. Students who are only auditing a course in the Graduate Program will still be required to pay the \$150 semester fee in addition to the auditing fee.

Class Attendance

Student attendance is required whether courses meet in block session or through synchronous video sessions. Students who are absent may avoid penalty by viewing recordings of the sessions and notifying the professor that they have viewed them in their entirety. Failure to attend or view class sessions may result in academic penalty, per faculty syllabi, and will result in automatic course failure if more than 30% of the sessions are missed.

Critical Thinking and Research Philosophy

The purpose of a Master of Arts degree is to enrich and deepen the student's ability to think and act on an appropriate basis. Essential to such thinking and acting are critical thinking and research skills.

Critical thinking involves (1) justification of one's presuppositions and methods in addressing a topic, (2) evaluation of assertions and inferences based on their use of data, coherence, and cogency, (3) drawing logical inferences (both inductive and deductive) from legitimate evidence, (4) interaction with a representative range of opinion on a subject, (5) appropriate and accurate use of secondary and primary sources, and (6) the recognition of the relationships between disparate ideas in consequence of the unitary nature of truth.

To facilitate the development of critical thinking students are encouraged to access online summary resources, such as <u>Critical Thinking Demystified</u> and <u>Thinking at a Graduate Level</u>. Additional explanatory resources may be found at <u>criticalthinking.org</u>.

Graduate literary research should be characterized, first, by a canvassing of secondary literature in order to understand not only the conclusions which scholars have articulated publicly, but also their presuppositions, approaches, and use of data. Second, it should be characterized by critical evaluations of the comprehensiveness of the data used to form conclusions and the logical coherence of arguments made based upon a first-hand acquaintance with primary literature. Cross-disciplinary interaction is encouraged. At the Master of Arts level, use of non-English secondary literature is not required.

Writing Styles

All classes require students to use the current Turabian style manual. Special permission to use the SBL Handbook of Style may be given on an individual basis.

Course Registration

Only students who have been formally accepted may register for classes. In conjunction with their assigned advisor, each student will select the semester's courses and develop their program of study.

Returning students will register for their classes with an academic advisor during the registration period indicated on the GBSC academic calendar. A late registration fee will be required of returning students who do not complete registration during this period.

Course Change, Drop and Withdrawal

If a student wishes to add or drop a class, it should be done before or on the published drop/add deadline. A fee will be assessed if the change is made after the registration deadline. Courses may not be added after the above mentioned date.

Students may withdraw from a course after the registration deadline but only before or on the published drop/add deadline. In such a case, a "W" will be assigned to the course. Should a student withdraw without the proper paperwork, or after the add/drop deadline, an "F" will be assigned to the course.

Students can obtain the necessary documentation for adding, dropping or withdrawing from a class from their academic advisor, and must ensure that it has been submitted to the Office of Graduate Studies on or before the applicable dates.

Grading System

The following grading system is used by all faculty in the graduate program at God's Bible School and College:

All grades are calculated on a ten percent scale:

93-100 = A

90-92 = A-

87-89 = B+

83-86 = B

80-82 = B-

77-79 = C+

73-76 = C

70-72 = C-

67-69 = D+

63-66 = D

$$60-62 = D-0-59 = F$$

A grade of F indicates failure and necessitates a satisfactory repetition of the course before credit can be allowed.

A "W" indicates a course from which a student has withdrawn.

A "CR" is given if the student successfully completes a course for which no letter grade is given. If the student fails to complete such a course successfully, an "NC" is given.

An "I" indicates incomplete work. An incomplete is awarded at the discretion of the instructor for extenuating circumstances. It is the student's responsibility to fill out the Course Extension form for review by the Graduate Office and course professor. A student who has been granted an incomplete is responsible to initiate contact with the instructor regarding arrangements for the completion of the course. The maximum time allowed for completion cannot exceed seven weeks beyond the end of the semester (last day of finals). In such cases, the incomplete will change to the grade earned by the student in the course.

An "N" indicates that a class is in progress. An "N" may only be issued by the Academic Committee when there are circumstances beyond the student's control that require additional time for the course's work to be completed.

An "SA" is given if the student successfully audits a class (attends at least two-thirds of the sessions). Unsuccessful audits result in a "UA."

Course Extension Policy

An incomplete may be awarded by an instructor in the event that extenuating circumstances prevent a student from completing a course by the end of the semester. A maximum of seven weeks extension beyond the end of the semester (last day of the last week of the course) can be given. The length of the course extension will be determined by the course professor. Should such an extension be granted, a \$200 course extension fee will be charged to the student's account. Once the extension has expired, the incomplete will change to the grade earned by the student in the course.

To apply for such a status, the student is responsible to complete the <u>Application for Course Extension form</u>, which will be reviewed by both the Graduate Office and the course professor. The student will be notified via email whether or not the application was approved.

Course Repeat Policy

Only courses in which the student has earned an "F" may be repeated. If a course is repeated, the original "F" on the official transcript will remain, but will not be figured into the student's cumulative GPA. If the course is repeated more than once, each of the subsequent grades after the first attempt will appear on the transcript and be calculated into the cumulative GPA. To repeat a course more than once, permission must be requested from the Graduate Program Director.

Examinations

All students, whether or not English is their primary language, are expected to complete all examinations—quizzes, midterms, finals, comprehensive exams, graduate language proficiency examinations, and otherwise—within the time allotted for that particular exam. Those students covered by the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) should consult with their professors if they need adjustments in the length or manner of their exams based on their disability.

Transcripts

The school retains a record of accepted students' applications who do not enroll for two years. Application recommendations for students are not retained after a student is accepted for course work.

All academic records are permanently retained by the school. Information regarding how GBSC students can request a copy of their transcripts may be found online at http://www.gbs.edu/transcript.

Course Enrollments

Normal minimum enrollment for the offering of a graduate course will be five students. Exceptions to this minimum may be arranged by the Graduate Program Director and the course's professor.

Academic/Course Grievances and Complaints

Should a student wish to appeal the academic decision of a faculty member, he/she must discuss the grievance with faculty member, mentioning all points of concern, before initiating any formal appeal.

Should the student not be satisfied with the outcome of his/her personal appeal, he/she can file a written appeal to the Graduate Program Director within sixty (60) days of the last days of finals

of the applicable semester. The Graduate Program Director will provide a written response within ten (10) days of receiving the appeal.

Should the student not be satisfied with the response from the Graduate Program Director, he/she may submit a written appeal to the office of the Vice President of Academic Affairs (VPAA) within ten (10) days of receiving the Graduate Program Director' response. The VPAA will provide a written response within ten (10) of receiving the appeal.

Should the student not be satisfied with the VPAA's response, he/she can appeal to the President of the college, within ten (10) days of receiving the response of the VPAA. The decision of the President is final.

For more information, access Academic/Course Grievances and Complaints Policy.

Language Requirements

Students applying for the MA in Biblical Studies must have completed the language prerequisites (Hebrew I; Greek I and II) prior to enrolling. Students who need to complete these language prerequisites may do so through GBSC's <u>online education program</u>. A prerequisite for graduating from this program is the successful completion of a comprehensive biblical language exit exam. The exam's language focus (Greek, Hebrew, or both) will reflect the course work the student has taken.

Veteran Affairs/Educational Benefits

GBSC is approved to give training to veterans and veterans' orphans who qualify for such benefits. Awards vary according to years of service and contributions. Those who are eligible under this program should notify the Office of Graduate Studies of their eligibility so that appropriate steps can be taken to access available benefits.

Incomplete Work

Incomplete work is a temporary course status awarded at the discretion of the professor for extenuating circumstances that prevent the student from completing the course by the end of the semester, and is designated with an "I" on the student's then-current transcript. It is the student's responsibility to initiate contact with the professor regarding arrangements for the completion of the course. The maximum time allowed for completion must not exceed seven weeks beyond the end of the semester, in which case the incomplete will be changed to the grade earned by the student in the course.

Academic Probation, Suspension and Remediation

A student is placed on academic probation when his/her GPA falls below the threshold GPA required for acceptance into his/her respective program (2.5 for MA in Ministry, 3.0 for MA in Biblical Studies), and will be notified of the change of status in writing. During semesters when a student is on academic probation the student may not carry an academic load in excess of 6 hours. If, after the second semester on academic probation, the student has not achieved the threshold GPA, he/she will be placed on Academic Suspension and will not be permitted to register for courses for at least one semester. The student must apply for readmission into the program under academic remediation status and may take no more than 3 hours per semester.

To be released from academic remediation status the student must, within the first semester that he/she is readmitted, achieve a term GPA that meets his/her degree program's threshold GPA. Should the student not attain the term GPA threshold within the required period of time, he/she will be notified in writing and will no longer be permitted to enroll in courses.

If the student does attain a term GPA that meets the program's threshold GPA, the student returns to academic probation and has no more than two semester to achieve the program's threshold cumulative GPA. Failure to achieve the program's threshold cumulative GPA after being on academic probation a second time will result in the student no longer being permitted to enroll in courses.

Graduation - General Requirements

- Students who wish to graduate must submit a completed application for graduation online; the deadline to apply for graduation with the Office of Graduate Studies is December 1 prior to the spring in which the student intends to graduate.
- A graduation fee (\$100) must be paid before submitting the graduation application.
- In addition to the total credit hours required, the student for graduation must meet the specific degree program requirements.
- For the Master of Arts in Biblical Studies, at least 24 credit hours must be completed through God's Bible School and College.
- For the Master of Arts in Ministry, at least 18 credit hours must be completed through God's Bible School and College.
- The student must submit a pre-graduation assessment paper (similar to the pre-admittance assessment that they completed upon application) that will serve as an evaluation of the student's growth during his/her time in the program. This assessment paper must be submitted in the application to graduation form.

Program-Specific Graduation Requirements

MA in Ministry:

- A minimum GPA of 2.5.
- The student must submit a capstone paper which demonstrates the skills developed in the program, reflects on the program's usefulness, recommends possible program improvements, and projects how the knowledge and skills learned in the program will be employed in future life and ministry. Specific guidelines for this paper may be obtained from the Office of Graduate Studies. The paper must be submitted one month prior to the expected graduation date.

MA in Biblical Studies:

- A minimum GPA of 3.0.
- Students must complete biblical language proficiency testing before graduation. The test(s) taken will be determined by the biblical language electives that the student took during his/her graduate studies. Information regarding these tests is available from the student's academic advisor, and the testing must be done and the report submitted to the Office of Graduate Studies by April 1.
- Students must also submit an exegetical paper from one of the classes taken in the GBSC Graduate Program that reflects his/her application of skills learned during his/her time in the program. The student may update the paper before submitting it to the Office of Graduate Studies to be evaluated and will receive feedback on it. Further details can be obtained from the student's academic advisor, and the assignment must be submitted to the Office of Graduate Studies by April 1.

3+2 Program Graduation Requirements

• Students in the 3 + 2 program are responsible to meet all undergraduate graduation requirements in the <u>Undergraduate Catalog</u> as well as the graduation requirements for the MA degree they are pursuing.

Suggested Undergraduate Bible and Theology Course List

BIST 241 Pentateuch	3
BIST 222 Wisdom Literature	3
BIST 218 Life of Christ	3
BIST 340 Romans and Galatians	3
BIST 428 Prison Epistles	3
THEO 140 Principles Christian Life I	

THEO 201 Christian Beliefs	3
THEO 202 Doctrine of Holiness	3
THEO 280 Hermeneutics	3
THEO 301 Holiness: Critical Issues	2
THEO 321 Systematic Theology I	3
THEO 322 Systematic Theology II	

Financial Information

Fees and Expenses/Tuition

Tuition Tuition per class Tuition per hour*	
Auditing	
Cost per hour	\$220.00
Program Fees**	
Library	\$50.00
IT	
General	
Other Fees:	
Application	\$40.00
Graduation	

^{*}GBSC alumni receive a \$40 per credit hour scholarship.

Students should be aware that some classes may have fees associated with them. Enrollment in such classes will result in the fee being automatically added to the student's bill.

Student Payment Policies

Full Payment

All student accounts are due and payable at the time of enrollment. If the student is able to make full payment at registration, a 2% discount on tuition will be given.

^{**} Program Fees are charged on a per semester basis to all students enrolled in courses for credit.

Deferred Payment Plans

If the student is unable to make full payment at registration, a deferred payment plan must be arranged with the Cashier's Office before registration is complete. Under this plan, all of the fees and 20% of the outstanding balance are due at registration. The remaining balance is then divided into four equal monthly payments.

Deferred payments become due and payable on the 10th of each month and will become delinquent if not paid by the 15th of each month.

Billing Statements

Students will receive monthly billing statements via email on the first of each month. These statements reflect the status of the student's account current to the date of the statement.

Overdue/late Payment Policy

A \$15 late-payment charge will be added to the student's account if payment is not made by the 25th day of the month. If a student's account becomes 35 days past due, the individual will lose his/her student status. Final grades and transcripts are not available until all financial obligations have been met.

Refund Policies

Withdrawal from School

Voluntary Withdrawal

In financial matters, the relationship between the student and the institution takes the form of a contract. For this reason, refunds to students not completing a full term of study will be made only after the student completes a withdrawal petition form and obtains the required clearance signatures listed on the form.

Students that wish to withdraw should complete and submit the withdrawal petition form, found here. Students who have completed the withdrawal petition and have obtained the necessary clearances will receive refunds following the schedule below (effective withdrawal date is the day the completed form is submitted). There is no refund for fees.

If the effective withdrawal date is	The student receives
Within first 2 weeks after registration	80% refund
During 3 rd full week after registration	60% refund
During 4 th full week after registration	40% refund
During 5 th full week after registration	20% refund

After the 5th full week after registration No refund

Refund Medical/Health Withdrawal

In cases where it becomes necessary for a student to completely withdraw from school due to medical or other health reasons, and if there is adequate documentation by a physician and/or health professional, tuition will be prorated by the week or any portion for a week attended. Fees are charged at 100 percent. The withdrawal should be coordinated through the Office of Graduate Studies, which will review any necessary documentation related to the nature of the withdrawal.

Involuntary Withdrawal (Dismissal)

In the event that a student is expelled, no refund will be made for any charges that have been applied to the student's account for the semester in which he or she is expelled. If the semester balance is not paid in full, he or she will be billed for the remaining balance.

Improper Withdrawal

Students who withdraw from school without completing a withdrawal petition form will be considered to have "improperly withdrawn." In those cases, no refund is granted to the student. If the semester balance is not paid in full, he or she will be billed for the remaining balance.

Title IV Funds

If a student withdraws completely from the institution during any given enrollment period, the amount of the student Title IV funds that should be returned must be calculated.

If this calculation indicates that funds should be returned, a specific order of refund has been established by the federal government:

- 1. To outstanding balances on Direct loans (Unsubsidized Federal Direct Loan, Subsidized Federal Direct Loan, Federal Direct PLUS Loan)
- 2. To the Federal Perkins loan
- 3. To other Title IV assistance
- 4. To other federal, state, private, or institutional aid
- 5. To the student

Federal regulations state that students who withdraw from school may keep only the Title IV financial aid funds they have earned up to the date of withdrawal. Students earn their financial aid by attending classes and completing coursework. Students who fail all classes in a given term with unearned "F" grades may also need to return some Title IV loan funds. An unearned "F" occurs when a student never attends or participates in less than 60% of the semester.

If a student earns less aid than was disbursed, the institution is required to return a portion of the funds and the student may be required to return a portion of the funds. Once the Title IV funds are returned, the student may have a balance due on his/her school account.

When a student withdraws and receives a refund, the Financial Aid Office will automatically use the student's institutional refund as payment toward what must be returned to the Title IV federal student loan programs. The student will be billed by the school if the amount to be returned is greater than the institutional refund to the student's account. The student may be required to repay to the school a portion of student loan funds that were directly disbursed to him/her.

Dropping Courses

If a student drops a course on or before the published last date to drop a course, a refund of tuition and any special fees applicable to that course will be made to the student's account. However, tuition and special fees for courses dropped will not be refunded after the first two weeks of the semester, except in the case of voluntary withdrawal. After the last date to drop a class, students may withdraw from a class until the last date allowed to do so. However, no refund of fees or tuition will be given in such a case.

Financial Aid Information

General Overview

A limited number of scholarships are available. These are awarded in the fall semester for both the fall and spring semesters. Federal Title IV loan are available for qualified students. All loans are given according to federal regulations.

Pell Grants

Students in the 3 + 2 program may be eligible for full Pell Grants for the first four years in the program. However, they will not be able to eligible for full Pell Grants for their final year, since they will not be full-time undergraduate students.

Eligibility

Scholarships are awarded on the basis of merit. Eligibility for federal financial aid is dependent on the student's maintaining Satisfactory Academic Progress.

Application Process

Students can submit an online application for scholarships <u>here</u>. All scholarship applications must be submitted on or before April 30 in order to be considered for the following school year.

Loan Information

Federal Title IV loans are available for qualifying students. Information on the types of loans available can be found here, and their repayment plans here, including income-based repayment plans that cap loan payments to 10% of your discretionary income and include built-in loan forgiveness.

For any additional information, contact the Office of Graduate Studies.

Loss of Financial Eligibility Policy

In order to maintain satisfactory academic progress (SAP), students must meet all of the following criteria, each of which is explained further below.

- 1. Maintain a satisfactory grade point average (GPA)
- 2. Complete an appropriate percentage of the credit hours attempted (completion rate)
- 3. Complete their degree program within a specified time (time limit)

Satisfactory GPA Criteria

In order for a student to retain his/her eligibility for financial aid, the student must maintain a GPA of 2.5 if enrolled in the MA in Ministry program, or 3.0 if enrolled in the MA in Biblical Studies MA. Students' GPA will be reviewed at the end of every spring semester to determine whether or not a student is eligible for financial aid for the following academic year.

Completion Rate Criteria

The minimum completion rate for students in the GBSC Graduate program is 67%. In other words, a student must consistently complete 67% of his/her attempted credit hours in a given academic year in order to be eligible for financial aid.

Time Limit Criteria

Students wishing to receive financial aid must also complete their degree program in 150% of the published degree length. In other words, to complete a 36-hour graduate degree, a student may attempt up to 54 credit hours without losing financial aid eligibility.

Transcript Requests

All academic records are permanently retained by the school. Information regarding how to request a copy of a transcript may be found online at http://www.gbs.edu/transcript.

Student Services

Student Rights and Responsibilities

As part of the educational experience at GBSC, students are encouraged to express their goals, points of view and needs. GBSC supports students' freedom individually and collectively. GBSC also encourages students to express their views on issues or matters of general interest—providing they do so in a manner consistent biblical principle and with the orderly functioning of the institution. In order to provide an environment conducive to learning, GBSC depends on the cooperation of the entire academic community of which each student forms a vital part. GBSC has personnel whose responsibility is to protect the rights of all of its students. Although freedom of expression is important, such freedom does not include the right to interfere with the program of the College nor hinder others in accomplishing their individual social and academic goals. GBSC expects students to take their academic responsibility seriously and to contribute positively to the life of the College by respecting the structures of the institution and its people. GBSC students are encouraged to work hard, study hard, participate actively in the life and spirit of the Institution and take advantage of the opportunities available. The administration, faculty, and staff look forward to working together with students toward this end.

School Mail

All official graduate program mail will be sent to the mailing address provided by the student. It is the student's responsibility to inform the institution in the event of a change of mailing address.

Email from God's Bible School and College

Upon acceptance to the graduate program, the Office of Graduate Studies will provide students with a free gbs.edu email and Google Apps account. The gbs.edu account serves as the official means of communication between the institution and the students. This is the only email address to which the administration and faculty will send correspondence, and it is therefore the student's responsibility to check the account regularly, as students will be held accountable for the information delivered via this email address.

Brainhoney

The learning management system used for all graduate program courses is <u>Brainhoney</u>. It is the platform through which students can access their course work, submit assignments, receive class

announcements, view their grades, etc. Each student will receive login information upon registration and is responsible for accessing Brainhoney regularly in order to keep up with courses and announcements. Students will be held responsible for the information made available on their Brainhoney accounts.

Tutorials on using Brainhoney will be provided in the Introduction to Graduate Studies course. Students may contact the Office of Graduate Studies for any further assistance or information.

Piazza

The graduate program uses <u>Piazza</u> as its official platform for asynchronous communication such as discussion forums, student polls, and student-to-student support. Students will be added to the Piazza group for each course for which they register. Piazza automatically notifies each student when they are added to the course and provides all the login information necessary to access the discuss site. Students are responsible for checking their accounts regularly for any updates or information for which they will be held responsible for.

Tutorials on using Piazza are available on the website at http://support.piazza.com/#. Students can contact the Office of Graduate Studies for any further assistance or information.

Block Sessions

Some courses offered in the graduate program may require students to attend block class sessions on campus. Attendance is required for all students in the course, unless an exception is granted by the course professor and the Office of Graduate Studies.

Lodging is available on campus, and must be reserved in advance through the Office of Graduate Studies. Students participating in block sessions are also welcome to enjoy meals at the campus cafeteria. Lodging and meal costs are available on request from the Office of Graduate Studies.

Textbook Purchases

Required textbooks will be given in each course syllabus. Course syllabi will be posted a minimum of two weeks prior to the start of classes, and it is the student's responsibility to obtain the needed textbooks in time to use them in class work. A student's budget should allow \$300-\$500 per year to cover the costs of textbooks and other academic supplies.

Graduate Culture

In order to sustain and enhance community among graduate students and faculty, the graduate program provides several avenues to facilitate conversation between students, faculty and program administrators beyond the classroom.

The Graduate Forum is an asynchronous discussion forum in which students and faculty can chat online, ask and answer questions, and discuss extra-curriculum subjects. The Graduate Forum is hosted on Piazza.com and all students who enroll in classes during a given semester are added to the forum automatically.

The Office of Graduate Studies also provides two or three live-stream or synchronous video conferences each semester. These conferences will feature round table discussions, current thought leaders, or Q&A sessions on contemporary issues.

Programs of Study

General Non-Academic Requirements

Introduction to Graduate Studies

Upon acceptance into the GBSC Graduate Program, all students are required to complete an Introduction to Graduate Studies module in Brainhoney before they can begin on any coursework. This learning module will cover topics such as how to use the Brainhoney platform; how to conduct proper graduate research; hardware requirements for synchronous video class interactions; ministry and mentorship requirements; etc.

Mentorship

To facilitate the application of graduate learning to life, each student is required to find a graduate mentor who is willing to meet regularly to discuss the student's spiritual development and the implementation of their learning in life and ministry. Both the student and mentor will periodically submit reports on the student's progress to the Office of Graduate Studies.

Guidelines for selecting a graduate mentor and policies governing the mentorship program can be found here.

Ministry Involvement

In order to encourage the immediate ministry application of a student's studies, the GBSC graduate program requires its students to be actively involved in an approved ministry throughout their time in the program.

Guidelines for ministry involvement and policies governing it can be found here.

Master of Arts in Ministry

This degree targets pastors and other ministry personnel with college degrees who would like graduate-level theological and practical ministry training. With a MA core of 18 hours and 18 hours of electives, students' degrees will be crafted to target the ministries in which they are currently serving or plan to serve.

Students must have a 2.5 GPA in order to graduate with an MA in Ministry.

Degree Objectives

Upon graduation, students will demonstrate ...

- 1. increased ability to articulate, integrate and apply appropriately the methods of biblical, systematic, historical, and practical theology to their faith and practice;
- 2. deepened passion for effective application of theological learning; and
- 3. enhanced skill in their area of program focus.

In addition to these general objectives, students in the MA in Ministry program will, in collaboration with their academic advisor, generate degree objectives specific to their particular ministry focus, as well as appropriate assessment strategies for each. Once approved by their advisor, the student will then be assessed according to these objectives.

Requirements

- Bachelor's degree with at least 30 hours of Bible and Theology
- 2.5 undergraduate GPA

Courses

MA Core		18
•	Biblical Hermeneutics	3
•	Biblical Theology of Holiness	3
•	Biblical Theology Elective	3
•	Wesleyan Historical Theology Elective	3
•	Systematic Theology Elective	3
•	Biblical Languages & Technology	3
Practical N	Ministry Electives	18
(chose	n from the following areas)	
•	Biblical Counseling	
•	Church Planting & Discipleship	

Expository Preaching/Teaching

Ministry Leadership

Evangelism and Apologetics

Total Hours 36

Master of Arts in Biblical Studies

The MA in Biblical Studies is designed for those who want to pursue further academic biblical studies in preparation for a teaching ministry either on the high school, Bible institute, local church institute (overseas) or undergraduate level. If a student plans to teach on a college level, this MA will provide a solid, transferable platform to a MDiv or PhD program. For those who desire a biblically deeper and theologically mature pastoral ministry, this degree will provide them with advanced exegetical skills and theological understanding to equip our laity for more capable service in the church and the world.

Students must have a 3.0 GPA in order to graduate with an MA in Biblical Studies.

Degree Objectives

Upon graduation, students will demonstrate ...

- 1. increased ability to articulate, integrate and apply appropriately the methods of biblical, systematic, historical, and practical theology to their faith and practice;
- 2. an ability to translate and exegete the text of Scripture in the original languages;
- 3. an awareness of the methods, contexts, and critical issues associated with both OT and NT studies;
- 4. the knowledge and skills necessary to pursue an MDiv or PhD; and
- 5. deepened passion for effective application of theological learning.

Requirements

- Bachelor's degree with at least 30 hours of Bible and Theology
- 3.0 undergraduate GPA
- Language proficiency in Greek and Hebrew

Courses

MA Core		30
•	Old Testament Introduction	3
•	Old Testament Theology	3
•	New Testament Introduction	3
•	New Testament Theology	3
•	Biblical Hermeneutics	3
•	Biblical Theology of Holiness	3
•	Wesleyan Historical Theology Elective	3
•	Systematic Theology Elective	3
•	Greek/Hebrew Exegesis Electives	6
	(Prerequisites: Greek I & II; Hebrew I)	
Practical N	Ministry Electives	6
	om the following areas)	
•	Biblical Counseling	
•	Church Planting & Discipleship	
•	Expository Preaching/Teaching	
•	Ministry Leadership	
•	Evangelism and Apologetics	
Total Hours		36

Course Descriptions

Biblical Languages

GREK 600-604 Greek Exegesis (3 hours)

An exegetical analysis in Greek of a NT text, with special attention to how syntactical structures contribute to semantic analysis. The same course name may be applied to different courses which focus on a different NT text. (Prerequisite: Greek I and II or the equivalent)

HBRW 600-604 Hebrew Exegesis (3 hours)

Introduction to Hebrew syntax and an exegetical analysis of specified book from the Hebrew Bible. The same course name may be applied to different courses which focus on a different Hebrew Bible text. (Prerequisite: Hebrew I or the equivalent)

Biblical Theology Courses

BITH 500 Biblical Languages and Technology (3 hours)

An introduction to how language works, including Biblical Hebrew and Greek, as well as to the use of technology in the study of Biblical texts. Course exposes students to key online applications and software-based programs, particularly Logos and BibleWorks.

BITH 501 New Testament Introduction: Contexts, Methods, and Critical Issues (3 hours)

An introduction to the literature of the New Testament in its socio-historical, literary, and canonical contexts, methods of New Testament study, and critical issues in New Testament formation and interpretation. Attention will be given to analysis of critical views.

BITH 502 Old Testament Introduction: Contexts, Methods, and Critical Issues (3 hours)

An introduction to the literature of the Old Testament in its socio-historical, literary, and canonical contexts, methods of Old Testament study, and critical issues in Old Testament formation and interpretation. Attention will be given to analysis of critical views.

BITH 510 Israel Study Seminar (3 hours)

An onsite study of the history, geography, culture and religion of ancient and modern Israel through an extensive tour throughout the country. This course includes pre- and post-trip academic requirements.

BITH 580 Biblical Hermeneutics (3 hours)

A course examining the principles and practice of biblical interpretation as well as the primary tools of biblical research. The student will become acquainted with the history of interpretation, contemporary hermeneutical approaches, and a defense of the literal-historical- grammatical approach. Hermeneutical strategies for interpreting various literary genres, analyzing structural relationships, performing word studies, and developing principles for accurate practical application will be learned.

BITH 610 Old Testament Theology (3 hours)

Explores the nature and significance of OT Theology as a sub-discipline of Biblical Theology, identifying the methodological issues, limitations, and proper objectives of the discipline. Special focus is given to the concept of covenant and to the theological concepts that are specific to the Pentateuch, the Former Prophets, the Psalms, the Wisdom Literature, and the Latter Prophets.

BITH 611 New Testament Theology (3 hours)

An investigation of the New Testament writings in order to understand their theological message. This study of the New Testament's theology recognizes both its diversity of expression and its fundamental conceptual unity.

BITH 612 Biblical Theology of Holiness (3 hours)

A study of the Old and New Testament's teaching on holiness using biblical-theological methodologies: word study, subject study, and book theology; also an evaluation of systematic theological articulations from a standpoint of Biblical Theology.

Historical Theology Courses

HITH 544 - History of American Methodism - 1784-1900 (3 hours)

A study of the growth and development of American Methodism and the rise of the holiness movement. Lectures will focus on key personalities, cultural issues and political developments that shaped the American experience of Methodism, specifically the nature and founding of the Methodist Episcopal church vis-à-vis its earliest missionaries to the American colonies, challenges it confronted with established churches, slavery, sectional conflict and the growth of annual and general conferences that gave rise to the holiness advocates.

HITH 630 History of Christian Thought (3 hours)

The course traces the development of the Church's doctrines from the close of the Apostolic Age through the modern period. Emphasis is given to the development of the ecumenical creeds and to the distinctive doctrines which form orthodox Christian theology.

HITH 640 Theology of John Wesley (3 hours)

Explores the spiritual and ideological construction of Wesleyan theology in its cultural, theological and philosophical contexts. The essential doctrines of early Methodism will be compared with the affirmations of orthodox Christianity. The place of Methodism within the larger ecumenical movements will also be considered. Engagement to make personal and societal applications of the truths is expected.

Practical Ministry Courses

PRTH 500 Graduate Mentorship Program (0 hours, \$100 fee per semester)

The graduate mentorship program facilitates the application of graduate learning to life by requiring all matriculated students to find a graduate mentor who is willing to meet regularly to discuss the student's spiritual development and the implementation of their learning in life and ministry. Both the student and mentor will regularly submit progress reports. Satisfactory completion of the mentorship program requirement is a graduation requirement.

PRTH 501 Ministry Involvement (0 hours)

All matriculated students are enrolled in this zero credit hour course as the vehicle by which they report on their regular ministry activities. Students are enrolled in this course each semester until their program is completed.

PRTH 502 Introduction to Missiology (3 hours)

The field of missiology studied from a Biblical, historical, methodological and contemporary viewpoint.

PRTH 510 Preaching the Doctrine of Holiness (3 hours)

A critical examination of published sermons on the doctrine of holiness combined with skills development in the preparation and delivery of expository messages on the doctrine of entire sanctification. This class focuses on developing the student's ability to exegete and articulate this doctrine in written and sermonic form.

PRTH 511 Pastoral Teaching: Theology and Practice (3 hours)

An investigation of the Pauline theology of pastoral teaching as distinct from pastoral preaching, and its application to pastoral ministry, as well as the preparation and presentation of exegetical, Bible-focused lessons designed to engage the laymen's minds with the text and guide them to practical application of the truth to their lives.

PRTH 520 Theology and Practice of Worship (3 hours)

A study of the biblical terms that define worship, a survey of historical worship practices, and an evaluation of worship practices in today's church. Students will develop principles of worship based on biblical and historical precedents and then apply these principles in personal and corporate worship.

PRTH 530 Integration of Christian Faith and Counseling (3 hours)

An investigation of the various perspectives on the integration of Christian faith and counseling theory. Contemporary counseling theories will be presented and evaluated in light of an explicitly Christian theological framework.

PRTH 531 Assessment and Intervention Skills in Counseling (3 hours)

This course provides an overview of assessment strategies for helping those in distress. Students will have the opportunity to develop specific intervention skills to be used in a variety of counseling contexts. (prerequisite: MNED 530 or equivalent)

PRTH 532 Counseling for Relationship Distress (3 hours)

This course provides an overview of evidence-based counseling strategies for working with couples, families and groups. (prerequisite: MNED 530 and 531 or their equivalent)

PRTH 533 Helping Skills and Christian Counseling (3 hours)

An overview of effective helping strategies used to provide ethical care and counseling to those in distress. Students will have the opportunity to develop theologically-sound skills that can be used in a variety of ministry contexts.

PRTH 534 Counseling for Behavioral and Emotional Distress (3 hours)

This course provides an overview of evidence-based counseling strategies for working with those with behavioral and emotional distress. Special attention will be given to behavioral and chemical addictions as well. (prerequisite: MNED 530 and 531 or their equivalent)

PRTH 535 Counseling Children and Adolescents (3 hours)

This course provides an overview of evidence-based counseling strategies for working with children, adolescents, and their caregivers. (prerequisite: MNED 530 and 531 or their equivalent)

PRTH 536 Crisis Intervention in Counseling (3 hours)

This course provides an overview of evidence-based counseling strategies for those in crisis. Special attention will be given to issues of bereavement, abuse, and suicide intervention. (prerequisite: MNED 530 and 531 or their equivalent)

PRTH 537 Pastoral Care and Counseling (3 hours)

A study of the biblical and theological foundation for pastoral care and counseling. Discussions include the history of pastoral care and counseling and current theological trends in the modern pastoral care and counseling movement.

PRTH 540 Exploring Spiritual Disciplines (3 hours)

A course designed to investigate the connection between the practice of spiritual disciplines and the depth of a believer's walk with God, as well as the effectiveness of his/her ministry.

PRTH 541 Facilitating and Assessing Spiritual Growth (3 hours)

Introduces the content, literature, and methods associated with the discipline of spiritual formation. Special attention is given to personal, mentoring, and pastoral application of the materials.

PRTH 550 Educational Administration (3 hours)

An analysis of administrative behavior and organizational patterns as applicable to Christian schools. Various administrative theories and philosophical concepts will be studied as they apply to school administration, particularly from a Christian and Biblical viewpoint. Basic factors and functions of successful administrations will be examined.

PRTH 560 Church Multiplication Practicum I (3 hours)

Church Multiplication Practicum involves the study and application of biblical guidelines used by church planting movements world-wide for the multiplication of churches. Students receive ongoing formative feedback from course instructors as they engage in the requisite fieldwork.

Systematic Theology Courses

SYTH 500 Advanced Systematic Theology (3 hours)

An investigation of the themes that comprise Christian theology. Focuses on theology as a coherent discipline, with immediate application to life and service. Topics include: Revelation, God, Man, Sin, Christ, Salvation, Holy Spirit, Church, Last Things, and Angelology. Ultimately the goal of this course is to enhance worship, personal conviction, and ministry.

SYTH 518 Doctrine of Prevenient Grace (3 hours)

An investigation of the Christian doctrine of prevenient grace. Focuses on developing a systematic theology of prevenient grace from Scripture, Christian history, and Christian philosophy. Topics include God's gracious nature, human sinfulness, Christ's atonement, human free will, the nature of faith, and grace in Christian mission. The goal of this course is to enhance our appreciation for God's nature and His universal provision of salvation.

Personnel

Board of Trustees

- 1) Dr. Leonard Sankey, Board Chairman
- 2) Mr. Robert England, Board Vice-Chairman
- 3) Mrs. Brenda Herring, Board Secretary
- 4) Dr. Michael Avery, College President
- 5) Rev. Chris Cravens
- 6) Mr. David Crosley
- 7) Mrs. Bethany Dentler
- 8) Mrs. Viola Durr
- 9) Rev. Jack Hooker
- 10) Mrs. Rebecca Kelley
- 11) Rev. John Manley
- 12) Dr. Steve Miller

- 13) Mr. Monte Stetler
- 14) Mr. Keith Waggoner

Program Leadership and Staff

- 1) Michael R. Avery, President
- 2) David Frederick, Director of Finance
- 3) Aaron D. Profitt, Vice President for Academic Affairs
- 4) Faith A. Avery, Director of Institutional Advancement
- 5) Richard Miles, Vice President for Student Affairs
- 6) Philip Brown II, Graduate Program Director

Full-time Faculty



Allan P. Brown Professor of Bible and Theology PhD in Old Testament, *Bob Jones University*. 1975. See <u>Vitae</u>.



A. Philip Brown II Professor of Bible and Theology PhD in Old Testament, *Bob Jones University*. 2002. See <u>Vitae</u>.



Mark Bird
Professor of Systematic Theology
DMin with emphasis in Theology and Apologetics, *Grace Theological Seminary*, 2000. See <u>Vitae</u>.



Stephen Smith
Professor of Bible and Theology
PhD in Theological Studies, *Trinity Evangelical Divinity School*, ABD. See <u>Vitae</u>.



Daniel Glick

Adjunct Faculty



Andrew Graham
Adjunct Professor of Counseling
PhD in Professional Counseling, *Liberty University*. 2013. See <u>Vitae</u>.



Clifford W. Churchill
Adjunct Professor of Educational Administration
DEd in Educational Leadership, *Nova Southeastern University.* 1993. See <u>Vitae</u>.



David Fry
Adjunct Professor of Systematic Theology
PhD in Systematic Theology, *Trinity Evangelical Divinity School*. 2014. See <u>Vitae</u>.



Paul Kaufman
Adjunct Professor of Church History
PhD, 19th Century American Religious History with concentrations in Tudor/Stuart
England, Colonial Religious History and Immigration History, *Kent State University*, 1994.
See <u>Vitae</u>.



Randall D. McElwain Adjunct Professor DTh in Practical Theology, *University of Zululand*. 2008. See <u>Vitae</u>.



Stephen Oliver Adjunct Professor PhD in New Testament Interpretation, *Bob Jones University*. 2012. See <u>Vitae</u>.



Timothy L. Cooley Adjunct Professor PhD with a concentration in Higher Education Leadership, *Columbia International University*. 2011. See <u>Vitae</u>.



William Ury Adjunct Professor PhD in Theological and Religious Studies, *Drew University*. 1991. See <u>Vitae</u>.



George Patterson Adjunct Professor D.D. (Hon.), *Western Seminary*. 1979. See <u>Vitae</u>.

Content Specialists and Visiting Instructors



Michael R. Avery
Content Specialist, Homiletics and Leadership
MA in Pastoral Leadership, *Cincinnati Christian University*. 2008.
DD, Honorary Doctorate of Divinity, *Wesley Biblical Seminary*.1998. See <u>Vitae</u>.



Mark Cravens
Content Specialist, Counseling
MA in Pastoral Counseling (in progress), *Cincinnati Christian University*.
MA in Pastoral Leadership, *Cincinnati Bible Seminary*. 2007. See <u>Vitae</u>.



Rodney Loper Visiting Instructor, Homiletics MA in Leadership and Expository Preaching, *Trinity Theological Seminary*. 2013. See <u>Vitae</u>.



Daniel P. Stetler Visiting Instructor, Homiletics MA, *Cincinnati Christian Seminary*, 1987.